**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

**RECEIVED**

**May 09 2024**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Appeal from Florence County  
Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2020-CP-21-02290  
Court of Appeals Case No. 2021-000586  
Unpublished Opinion No. 2024-UP-005 (S.C. Ct. App. filed January 3, 2024)  
Supreme Court Case No. 2024-000615

Mary Tisdale,  
as Personal Representative of the Estate of Earlene Seabrook,

Respondent,

v.

Palmetto Lake City Operating, LLC  
d/b/a Lake City-Scranton Healthcare Center  
and Jeffrey Gibbs,

Defendants,

Of whom Palmetto Lake City Operating, LLC  
d/b/a Lake City-Scranton Healthcare Center is the

### QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. **Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the circuit court’s denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration?**<sup>3</sup>
  - A. **Did the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the circuit court on the basis that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement did not merge?**
  - B. **Did the Court of Appeals err in not reaching the Facility’s remaining arguments, including especially, but not limited to, its equitable estoppel argument?**
  - C. **Had the Court of Appeals reached the Facility’s remaining arguments, including especially, but not limited to, its equitable estoppel argument, as, respectfully, it should have, should the Court of Appeals have found that the circuit court erred in not finding Plaintiff equitably estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement and that it (the circuit court) should have granted the Motion to Compel Arbitration?**
  - D. **Separate and apart from the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument, and while most respectfully recognizing the binding effect that this Court’s decision in *Arredondo v. SNH SE Ashley River Tenant, LLC*<sup>4</sup> had on the Court**

---

<sup>1</sup> The “Facility” refers to Defendant/Petitioner, Palmetto Lake City Operating, LLC d/b/a Lake City-Scranton Healthcare Center, which is a skilled nursing facility.

<sup>2</sup> “Plaintiff” refers to Plaintiff/Respondent, Mary Tisdale (“Ms. Tisdale”), as Personal Representative of the Estate of Earlene Seabrook. “Ms. Seabrook” refers to the decedent, Earlene Seabrook.

<sup>3</sup> Out of an abundance of caution, as in the Facility’s briefing to the Court of Appeals, this question and the corresponding argument includes and challenges the circuit court, and the Court of Appeals’ affirmance thereof, in respect of the adverse rulings on both the Facility’s principal motion and its subsequent Rule 59(e), SCRCR, motion.

<sup>4</sup> 433 S.C. 69, 856 S.E.2d 550 (2021).

**of Appeals (as well as on the circuit court), should the Arbitration Agreement be deemed validly executed on Ms. Seabrook’s behalf by her attorney-in-fact, Ms. Tisdale, pursuant to the HCPOA<sup>5?6</sup>**

- E. At a minimum, should the Court of Appeals have found that the circuit court erred in denying the Facility’s alternative request for limited discovery to address gaps in the evidentiary record bearing on the Arbitration Agreement’s enforceability under an agency theory?**

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

With the help of her niece Ms. Tisdale, Ms. Seabrook was admitted to the Facility on or about June 25, 2019. (*See* R. pp. 133–144.) In conjunction with Ms. Seabrook’s admission to the Facility, Ms. Tisdale, who handled the paperwork, and was indeed Ms. Seabrook’s attorney-in-fact pursuant to the HCPOA, signed an Admission Agreement<sup>7</sup> and an Arbitration Agreement<sup>8</sup> on Ms. Seabrook’s behalf.

Ms. Tisdale signed both the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement as “Resident’s [(i.e., Ms. Seabrook’s<sup>9</sup>)] Durable Power of Attorney for Health Care’/[Ms. Seabrook’s] Legal Guardian’/[Ms. Seabrook’s] Responsible Party.” (R. pp. 98, 133.) By signing the Admission Agreement, Ms. Tisdale expressly acknowledged that the “promises and representations [she made therein were] in order to induce Facility to enter into th[e] Agreement” and that the “Facility [wa]s relying upon the truthfulness of the promises and representations [she] made.” (R. p. 144.) By signing the Arbitration Agreement, Ms. Tisdale expressly “represent[ed]

---

<sup>5</sup> The “HCPOA” refers to the South Carolina Health Care Power of Attorney that Ms. Tisdale held as to Ms. Seabrook. (R. pp. 125–132.)

<sup>6</sup> This question and the corresponding argument specifically includes, without limitation, the Facility’s respectful contention that *Arredondo* was wrongly decided.

<sup>7</sup> (R. pp. 133–144.)

<sup>8</sup> (R. p. 98.)

<sup>9</sup> Both the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement refer to Ms. Seabrook as “Resident.” (R. pp. 98, 133.)

that . . . she ha[d] the authority to sign on [Ms. Seabrook’s] behalf so as to bind [Ms. Seabrook] as well as [herself].” (R. p. 98.)

Alleging that Ms. Seabrook received deficient care/treatment during her residency at the Facility,<sup>10</sup> Plaintiff filed this wrongful death and survival action on October 8, 2020, in the Court of Common Pleas, Florence County. (*See* R. pp. 22–46.)<sup>11</sup>

Citing the Arbitration Agreement Ms. Tisdale signed for Ms. Seabrook, the Facility moved to compel Plaintiff’s claims to arbitration (the “Motion to Compel Arbitration”). (R. pp. 96–98; *see also* R. pp. 99–144.)

The circuit court heard the Motion to Compel Arbitration on February 9, 2021, the Honorable William H. Seals Jr. presiding. (*See generally* R. pp. 58–94.) The court denied the motion by formal order filed March 1, 2021. (R. pp. 4–16.)<sup>12</sup> By order filed May 4, 2021, the court thereafter denied the Facility’s motion for reconsideration. (R. pp. 17–19.)<sup>13</sup>

By notice served and filed June 2, 2021, this appeal timely follows. (*See* R. pp. 172–177.) In due course, the appeal was briefed and made ready for decision and decided without oral argument via the Subject Opinion, filed January 3, 2024.

---

<sup>10</sup> In particular, Plaintiff alleges Ms. Seabrook did not receive proper care with respect to the prevention and/or treatment of pressure ulcers. (*See* R. p. 145 (“While Ms. Seabrook was a resident and under the [Facility’s] care, she was allowed to develop pressure ulcers which became infected, leading to her decline and eventual death . . . on August 31, 2019.”); *see also* R. p. 30 ¶ 31 (“While at the [F]acility . . . Ms. Seabrook . . . develop[ed] preventable injuries which the [Facility] had a duty to prevent, caused by a breach of that duty, including but not limited to pressure sores . . . .”))

<sup>11</sup> Subject to and without waiving its right to compel the matter to arbitration, the Facility timely answered Plaintiff’s complaint, denying the material allegations against it and raising a number of affirmative defenses. (*See* R. pp. 47–57.)

<sup>12</sup> In a Form 4 order filed February 9, 2021, the court had previously stated that the Motion to Compel Arbitration was denied and that a formal order would follow. (R. pp. 1–3.)

<sup>13</sup> Pursuant to Rule 59(e), on March 11, 2021, the Facility had timely moved the court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its order of March 1, 2021. (R. pp. 155–171.)

As certified above, the Facility timely petitioned for rehearing, and the Court of Appeals denied rehearing by order filed March 18, 2024.

This petition for a writ of certiorari timely follows.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

A circuit court’s determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). “Under de novo review, a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings.” *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the circuit court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within circuit court’s discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem’l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the circuit court’s denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration.**
  - A. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the circuit court on the basis that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement did not merge.<sup>14</sup>**

The Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument is a standalone argument that does not depend on any showing of authority (actual or apparent or otherwise) on the part of Ms. Tisdale or otherwise on the existence of any per se valid and enforceable agreement between the parties.

*See Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (observing that South Carolina has recognized numerous theories that can bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements, including estoppel); *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 354–55, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (acknowledging the possibility of enforcing an arbitration agreement against a nonsignatory via merger and equitable estoppel); *id.* (explaining “Appellants’ equitable estoppel argument,” which “[wa]s premised on [Appellants’] contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged,” as follows: “Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] . . . , she is nevertheless *equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration agreement’s] enforceability.*”) (emphasis added).

Conceptually, the merger/equitable estoppel argument is not an argument for the *enforceability* of the Arbitration Agreement per se but rather for Plaintiff to be *estopped to deny the enforceability* of the Arbitration Agreement. In short, the idea is that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged, and because Ms. Seabrook effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Ms. Seabrook, and, therefore, Plaintiff, who stands in Ms. Seabrook’s shoes, is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith. Accordingly, any lack of authority on the part of Ms. Tisdale is beside the point and unavailing to refute the merger/equitable estoppel argument, which, again, turns not on the question of whether the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable per se but whether Ms. Seabrook, and, in turn, Plaintiff, should be estopped to deny that the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable—and, most respectfully, the answer is yes.

---

<sup>14</sup> (Subject Opinion (“[W]e hold the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement did not merge.”).)

In *Coleman*, even though this Court found against merger on the particular *facts* of the case, it nonetheless confirmed the validity of the general proposition of *law* on which the *Coleman* appellants based their merger/equitable estoppel argument:

Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] under the [Adult Health Care Consent] Act, she is nevertheless equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration agreement's] enforceability. The circuit court held there was no estoppel here, and we agree.

Appellants' equitable estoppel argument is premised on their contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged. In South Carolina,

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.

*Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Dev. Corp.*, 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977).

Here, *the documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. Unless there is a contrary intention, appellants are correct that there was a merger.*

407 S.C. at 354–355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

Here, like the circuit court, the Court of Appeals erred in rejecting the Facility's merger argument, failing to recognize material differences between the facts and arguments involved in the instant case and those that controlled (or were simply not addressed in) *Coleman* and its progeny *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016), and *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018),

and the Court of Appeals’ more recent decision in *Solesbee v. Fundamental Clinical and Operational Services, LLC*, 438 S.C. 638, 885 S.E. 2d 144 (Ct. App. 2023), concluding:

Here, as in *Solesbee*<sup>[15]</sup> and *Hodge*<sup>[16]</sup>, (1) the two agreements were governed by different bodies of law because the Admission Agreement was governed by state law and the Arbitration Agreement was governed by federal law; (2) each document was separately labeled, numbered, and contained its own signature page; (3) the arbitration agreement recognized the two documents were separate, stating the arbitration agreement “shall survive any termination or breach of this Agreement or the Admission Agreement”; and (4) the Facility acknowledged that signing the Arbitration Agreement was not a prerequisite to admission to the Facility.

(Subject Opinion.)

The Subject Opinion erroneously concludes that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement are separate contracts that do not merge. The merger question examines whether, “where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction,”<sup>17</sup> as indeed the Admission Agreement and

---

<sup>15</sup> In affirming the circuit court’s denial of the motion to compel arbitration at issue in *Solesbee*, the *Solesbee* Court likened that case to *Coleman* and *Hodge* and found that the circuit court had correctly determined that there was no merger of the admission agreement and the arbitration agreement and, in turn, had properly denied the equitable estoppel argument. *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. at 649, 885 S.E.2d at 149 (“Thus, like the *Coleman* and *Hodge* courts, we find there was no merger in this case and [the Facility’s] equitable estoppel argument was properly denied.”).) While the Facility concedes that the Arbitration Agreement and Admission Agreement in issue in the instant case are the same form documents as in *Solesbee*, most respectfully, as further addressed below, the merger analysis in *Solesbee* is erroneous and incomplete and should not control the disposition of this case.

<sup>16</sup> To be clear, the admission agreement and arbitration agreement in *Hodge* were materially different from the instant Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement. Moreover, the plain language of *Hodge* makes clear that its finding against merger is based on its assessment of a multitude of particular factors taken together, 422 S.C. at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302 (“Based on all of this, we find the Admissions Agreement and Arbitration Agreement did not merge.”) (emphasis added)), and does not support the view that any of the cited factors standing alone—without regard to their context or the impact of other factors—can support a reasonable, non-speculative finding against merger.

<sup>17</sup> *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

the Arbitration Agreement were here,<sup>18</sup> there is evidence to upset the *presumption in favor of merger*, i.e., the presumption that the instruments should be construed together as effectively one contract. This is a question of intention. *Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“in the absence of anything indicating a contrary *intention* . . .”) (emphasis added). And “in attempting to ascertain th[e] [parties’] intention,” our courts “endeavor to determine the situation of the parties, as well as their purposes, at the time the contract was entered into.” *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 89, 232 S.E.2d at 25.

For the merger presumption to mean anything in practice, it cannot be upset based on mere conjecture, but only on actual evidence that—notwithstanding the concurrence of all the particular circumstances necessary for the presumption to even arise in the first place (same time, parties, purpose, and transaction)—can nonetheless support a reasonable, non-speculative inference that the parties’ intention was contrary to merger. *Cf. The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 188, 617 S.E.2d 125, 130 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[V]erdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”). No such inference can be drawn here. Indeed, it does not even make sense that there would have been an intention contrary to merger of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement.

Unlike the arbitration agreements at issue in *Coleman*, *Hodge*, and *Thompson*, all of which provided that they could be disclaimed or revoked within 30 days of their signing (while the corresponding admission agreements contained no such provision), the instant Arbitration Agreement has no such disclaimer/revocation provision. (*See R.* p. 98.) Moreover, while the

---

<sup>18</sup> As the *Coleman* Court expressly observed regarding the admission and arbitration agreements before it (which in *this* respect—but not in respect of the material facts bearing on the question of whether the presumption of merger is rebutted—are no different from the instant agreements), “the documents were [indeed] executed at *the same time, by the same parties, for*

instant Admission Agreement does contain an “Entire Agreement” clause, it does not reference the Arbitration Agreement as a separate contract. (R. p. 144.) Indeed, directly contradicting the idea of “separatedness” (in the parlance of the *Coleman* Court<sup>19</sup>), the “Entire Agreement” clause in the instant Admission Agreement expressly states that “other Admissions materials” are part of the Admission Agreement, thereby expressly disclaiming its own “separatedness.” (R. p. 144.) And without question, the Arbitration Agreement is among these other admissions materials. *See Stott v. White Oak Manor, Inc.*, 426 S.C. 568, 571–72, 828 S.E.2d 82, 84 (Ct. App. 2019) (“The same day as Decedent’s admission to White Oak, Stott, acting as Decedent’s authorized representative, signed White Oak’s admission documentation—including the *Arbitration Agreement*.”) (emphasis added) (internal footnote omitted); *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 550, 813 S.E.2d at 295 (“Her husband . . . executed various documents *related to her admission*, including an *Arbitration Agreement* and an *Admission Agreement*.”) (emphasis added)).<sup>20</sup>

---

*the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction.*” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

<sup>19</sup> 407 S.C. at 356, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (explaining how, in *Coleman*—unlike the instant case—the “Entire Agreement” clause expressly referred to a separate arbitration agreement and, thus, “recognize[d] the ‘*separatedness*’ of the [arbitration agreement] and the admission agreement, not a merger of the two contracts.”) (emphasis added).

<sup>20</sup> To be clear, the Facility’s point here is not that the holding of either *Stott* or *Hodge* established a legal standard for what counts as admission paperwork, but rather that the very fact that the language that the *Stott* and *Hodge* Courts used in discussing the facts of the cases so readily made the natural and logical connection between arbitration agreements signed in conjunction with admission and “admission documentation” and “documents related to . . . admission,” respectively, that it illustrates that, in its plain, ordinary, and popular sense, “Admissions materials” includes the Arbitration Agreement. *See Beaufort Cnty. Sch. Dist. v. United Nat’l Ins. Co.*, 392 S.C. 506, 516, 709 S.E.2d 85, 90 (Ct. App. 2011) (“If the contract’s language is clear and unambiguous, the language alone, understood in its plain, ordinary, and popular sense, determines the contract’s force and effect.”). Moreover, this connection between the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement (with the Arbitration Agreement being understood in the plain, ordinary, and popular sense as included in the term “Admissions materials”) is underscored by the *Coleman* Court’s recognition that an admission agreement and arbitration agreement signed in conjunction with resident’s admission to a nursing facility are

Like the *Solesbee* Court (and, for that matter, the *Hodge* Court, even though, again, different admission and arbitration agreements were at issue in *Hodge*), the Court of Appeals erred in finding against merger on the basis that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement were governed by different bodies of law “because the Admission Agreement was governed by state law and the Arbitration Agreement was governed by federal law.” (Subject Opinion.)

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