**RECEIVED**

**Jun 06 2024**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Supreme Court Case No. 2024-000615

Mary Tisdale, as Personal Representative ..... Respondent  
of the Estate of Earlene Seabrook,

v.

Palmetto Lake City Operating, LLC  
d/b/a Lake City-Scranton Healthcare  
Center and Jeffrey Gibbs, ..... Defendants,

Of which Palmetto Lake City Operating,  
LLC d/b/a Lake City-Scranton Healthcare  
Center d/b/a is the ..... Petitioner.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

D. Nathan Hughey  
A. Stuart Hudson  
Bradley H. Banyas

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

---

<sup>1</sup> Coleman, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455; Hodge, 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302.

<sup>2</sup> Coleman, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455; Thompson, 416 S.C. at 53, 784 S.E.2d at 685; Hodge, 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302.

<sup>3</sup> Hodge, 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302.

<sup>4</sup> Thompson, 416 S.C. at 53, 784 S.E.2d at 685; Hodge, 422 S.C. at 562-63, 813 S.E.2d at 302.

<sup>5</sup> Hodge, 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302.

Unpublished Op. No. 2024-UP-005, at 3. The Admission Agreement adopts South Carolina law. (R. p. 142) (“those laws of the State in which Facility is located”). In contrast, the Arbitration Agreement is to be interpreted consistently with substantive federal law. (R. p. 98) (“governed by the Federal Arbitration Act” (“FAA”)). The Facility argues these governing law provisions are not inconsistent (Pet. at 10-12), but Hodge rejected that argument based on functionally identical contract language. 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302. The Hodge arbitration contract was different than its admission contract because the arbitration contract not only adopted the FAA but also specifically declined to apply the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act (“SCUAA”). Id. at 552, 813 S.E.2d at 296. That is precisely what the Arbitration Agreement does here. It both affirmatively states that it is governed by the FAA and specifically declines to apply the SCUAA. (R. p. 98) (“the enforcement of this Arbitration Agreement is not subject to the” SCUAA). The Arbitration Agreement goes on to reiterate its choice not to use South Carolina substantive law. Id. (choosing FAA “notwithstanding any . . . contrary state law”). Thus, the Court correctly applied Hodge in finding the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement do not merge because they contain inconsistent termination provisions.

**b. References to one another as distinct documents**

Dating back to Coleman, South Carolina appellate courts have held that a nursing home admission contract does not merge with an arbitration contract when either refers to the other as a distinct document. 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. Here, the Arbitration Agreement refers to the Admission Agreement as a separate and distinct document when discussing its term. Tisdale, Unpublished Op. No. 2024-UP-005, at 4 (citing R. p. 98) (Arbitration Agreement “shall survive any termination or breach of . . . the Admission Agreement”). The Facility’s objection to this application of Coleman and Hodge seems to be based on where these distinct references are located

in the contracts. (Pet. at 13-14). The Facility claims distinct references only matter if they are in an admission contract's integration or "Entire Agreement" provision. Id. Appellants never explain why the location of the distinct references make a substantive difference. More importantly, case law rejects their argument. The distinct references cited by Hodge were not limited to an integration provision in the admission agreement but also distinct references to the admission contract in the arbitration contract's scope provision. Hodge, 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302. Therefore, the Court's opinion accurately applied Coleman and Hodge in rejecting merger based on the Arbitration Agreement's reference to the Admission Agreement in distinct terms.

**c. Separate pagination and signature pages**

Following the precedent set in Hodge, the Court cited the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement's varying structure and formatting as further evidence against merger. Tisdale, Unpublished Op. No. 2024-UP-005, at 4; see also Hodge, 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302 (noting "each document was separately paginated and had its own signature page"). On this point, the Facility simply ask the Court to ignore or even overrule Hodge. Notwithstanding Hodge's clear holding, Appellants insist this factor provides no reasonable inference of an intent contrary to merger. (Pet. at 12-13). An unsubstantiated argument against precedent is not a valid ground for rehearing. Moreover, this factor does provide evidence of the parties' intent. The Facility did not just choose to give the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement separate pagination, it also used the pagination to define each document's limits. The Admission Agreement, consisting of 12 pages, ended not just with page 12 but with page "12 of 12." (R. p. 176). The Arbitration Agreement's single page was "Page 1 of 1." (R. p. 144). These formatting choices offer further support for the many other indicators that these two contracts do not merge.

**d. Arbitration not required to obtain admission**

As a final indicator against merger, the Court faithfully adhered to precedent by citing the Facility's concession that Ms. Seabrook did not have to agree to arbitration to gain admission to the Facility. Tisdale, Unpublished Op. No. 2024-UP-005, at 4. In other words, these two contracts were not tied together because Ms. Seabrook could gain the benefit of one without accepting the burden of the other. By conceding this was true, the Facility were admitting evidence that the Court has twice deemed as strong evidence against merger. Thompson, 416 S.C. at 53, 784 S.E.2d at 685 (“[t]his demonstrates the parties’ intent that the two agreements retain their separate identities”); Hodge, 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302. Here again, Appellants’ only argument is one that is effectively against precedent. Notwithstanding the holding of Thompson (that was bolstered by Hodge), Appellants contend this factor provides no reasonable inference of an intent contrary to merger. (Pet. at 14-16). This argument is procedurally improper and substantively flawed for the reasons discussed above. This factor, like the four cited above, is probative on the merger question and was properly applied to reject Appellants’ merger argument.

**2. The court of appeals correctly applied Coleman and Hodge to reject Appellants’ estoppel argument.**

The Facility’s estoppel argument fails both because it is inextricably linked to their flawed merger argument and for independent reasons. The Facility’s briefing effectively acknowledges their estoppel assertion depends on a court first accepting their merger argument. See e.g. App. Br. at 17. The Facility does not argue Ms. Seabrook received some benefit from the Arbitration Agreement that would estop her estate from opposing arbitration. Instead, they argue she received some “direct benefit” from the Admission Agreement that estops the estate from contesting the Arbitration Agreement. That argument could only prevail if the Court first found the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement merged. Since the Court correctly determined there was no

merger, it was also correct in finding no substantive analysis of estoppel was necessary. Tisdale, Unpublished Op. No. 2024-UP-005, at 4.

Moreover, even if the Facility could prove merger, it still could not make the necessary showing to prevail on equitable estoppel. The Facility completely overlooks the governing standard for applying the “direct benefit” form of equitable estoppel in nursing home arbitration cases. While South Carolina law recognizes the possibility that a nonsignatory may be required to arbitrate under a contract she did not sign, the party asserting estoppel must make three distinction showings. Weaver v. Brookdale Sr. Living, Inc., 431 S.C. 223, 230 847 S.E.2d 223 (Ct. App. 2020). The Facility would have to show (1) Ms. Seabrook’s claim arose from a contractual relationship; (2) Ms. Seabrook “exploited” other parts of the contract by reaping its benefits; and (3) her claim “relies solely on the contract terms to impose liability. Id. (citing Wilson v. Willis, 426 S.C. 326, 340-44, 827 S.E.2d 167, 175-77 (2019)).

Applying these elements, Weaver found a nursing home’s resident does not gain a “direct benefit” for estoppel purposes simply by accepting the services obtained upon admission to the home. 431 S.C. at 230-31, 847 S.E.2d at 272-73. The estate’s personal injury claims also do not “arise from” the Admission Agreement. There is no breach of contract claim, and the Admission Agreement is not referenced at all in the Complaint. Id. at 231, 847 S.E.2d at 272 (finding “arising from” requirement is not met just because claim would not exist “but for” a contract’s existence). Instead, the estate grounds its claims in duties arising from common law with no reference to any contract. Id. at 232, 847 S.E.2d at 273 (finding nursing home resident’s claims “rely on general tort duties . . . not any provision of the residency agreement”). Under those circumstances, estoppel cannot apply because the claims do not “arise from” a contract and certainly do not “rely solely” on a contract’s terms. Id. at 232-33, 847 S.E.2d at 273 (citing Hodge as further support to show

“direct benefit” estoppel does not apply to nursing home resident’s common law tort claim). The Facility points to nothing to distinguish Weaver or to address its holding which forecloses their estoppel argument. Thus, the Court correctly rejected the Facility’s attempt to apply equitable estoppel because the Facility cannot first prove merger to then pursue estoppel. Even if the Court were to consider the merits of estoppel, Weaver is strong precedent against applying estoppel in this context.

**3. The court of appeals correctly ruled Ms. Seabrook’s “Health Care Power of Attorney” did not empower Ms. Tisdale to enter an arbitration contract on her behalf.**

The court of appeals correctly determined the South Carolina statutory “Health Care Power of Attorney” (“HCPOA”) form’s language did not authorize Ms. Tisdale to execute the Arbitration Agreement for Ms. Seabrook. Tisdale, Unpublished Op. No. 2024-UP-005, at 3. Arredondo considered the same form HCPOA and ruled it does not empower a nursing home resident’s family member to sign a voluntary, standalone, and pre-dispute arbitration contract. The use of Arredondo here does not require any deductions, analogies, or interpretations. The court of appeals simply applied the exact legal reasoning the South Carolina Supreme Court unanimously espoused in Arredondo to precisely the same HCOPA language considered in Arredondo.

In both Arredondo and this case, the nursing home resident used an HCPOA to grant a “health care agent” like Ms. Tisdale authority

To take any other action necessary to making, documenting, and assuring implementation of decisions concerning my health care, including, but not limited to, granting any waiver or release from liability required by any hospital, physician, nursing care provider, or other health care provider; signing any documents relating to refusals of treatment or the leaving of a facility against medical advice, and pursuing any legal action in my name, and at the expense of my estate to force compliance with my wishes as determined by my agent, or to see actual or punitive damages for the failure to comply.

(R. p. 129 § 4(D)); Arredondo, 433 S.C. 80-81, 856 S.E.2d at 556-57. None of the clauses in this provision authorize a health care agent to sign a document like the Arbitration Agreement.

Arredondo first interpreted the phrase “action necessary to making, documenting, and assuring implementation of decisions concerning [a nursing home resident’s] health care. Arredondo, 433 S.C. at 81-83, 856 S.E.2d at 557-58. The only health care decision at issue is the nursing home resident’s admission to a nursing facility. Id. at 81, 856 S.E.2d at 557. A proposed arbitration contract is not “necessary” to that health care decision when the resident can be admitted to a facility without agreeing to arbitration. Id. at 82, 856 S.E.2d at 557. The same principle applies here. Since the Arbitration Agreement was not a precondition to Ms. Seabrook’s admission, this portion of the HCPOA did not authorize his health care agent (Ms. Tisdale) to execute the Arbitration Agreement. The circuit court concluded the Arbitration Agreement was not required for Ms. Seabrook’s admission. (R. p. 13). The Facility does not dispute this point. (Pet. at 14).

Similarly, a health care agent’s authority to “grant[] any waiver or release . . . required by” any health care provider did not empower a nursing home resident’s family member to execute a voluntary arbitration agreement. Arredondo, 433 S.C. at 83-84, 856 S.E.2d at 558. If entering such an agreement is not a precondition to admission, its proposed waiver of the right to a jury trial is not “required” by the nursing home. Id. at 84, 856 S.E.2d at 558. Finally, there are two reasons the authority to “pursu[e] any legal action” also does not apply to the execution of a document like the Arbitration Agreement. First, that authority only applies to the pursuit of legal action “to force compliance with [the principal’s] wishes as determined by” the health care agent. Id. at 84, 856 S.E.2d at 558-59. Arbitrating Ms. Seabrook’s personal injury claims is not consistent with Ms. Seabrook’s wishes as determined by Ms. Tisdale. Second, as other courts have recognized,

executing a *pre-dispute* arbitration contract takes place before there is any legal claim to pursue and, therefore, consideration of such a document has nothing to do with instituting legal proceedings. Id. at 84-85, 856 S.E.2d at 559 (citing Kindred Nursing Ctrs. Ltd. P’ship v. Wellner, 533 S.W.3d 189, 193-94 (Ky. 2017)). Ms. Tisdale was presented with the Arbitration Agreement when Ms. Seabrook entered the Facility on August 7, 2019, before she suffered the injuries on which her current legal claims are based. Just as in Arredondo, the HCPOA provided no authority for Ms. Tisdale to enter this pre-dispute arbitration contract.

In short, the court of appeals correctly applied Arredondo in finding Ms. Tisdale lacked authority to sign the Arbitration Agreement and, as a result, the Facility’s motion to compel arbitration was correctly denied. Tisdale, Unpublished Op. No. 2024-UP-005, at 3. Since Arredondo and this case address functionally identical HCPOAs, the Facility could only avoid the outcome reached there if Arredondo were overruled. There is no basis for overturning this recent, unanimous ruling, and the Facility does not even offer one.

**4. The court of appeals correctly applied Hodge in rejecting the Facility’s nonjusticiable discovery argument.**

The Facility claims the court should allow the Facility to conduct discovery under circumstances where they will not be vulnerable to Respondent’s argument that the Facility waived its arbitration rights. (Pet. at 34-36). But, the Facility never even attempted discovery and did not need a court’s permission to pursue it. Rule 30(a)(1), SCRCF (permitting depositions “[a]fter commencement of an action”); Rule 33(a), SCRCF (same for serving interrogatories); Rule 34(b), SCRCF (same for serving requests for production). What the Facility actually seeks is not permission to conduct discovery but a court’s assurance that pursuing discovery will not constitute waiver of arbitration. A court could not issue the ruling the Facility seeks because the Facility lack standing and the issue is not yet ripe. See Resp’t Br. at 26-30. No court can rule on the effect

discovery will have on waiver before the discovery is performed. Colleton Cnty. Taxpayers Ass'n v. Sch. Dist. of Colleton Cnty., 371 S.C. 224, 242, 638 S.E.2d 685, 694 (2006) (finding claim is not ripe if it is “contingent, hypothetical, or abstract”).

Moreover, the Court properly relied on precedent in finding potential discovery would be futile. Tisdale, Unpublished Op. No. 2024-UP-005, at 4 (citing Solesbee, 438 S.C. at 651, 885 S.E.2d at 150); see also Thompson, 416 S.C. at 55, 784 S.E.2d at 686). While the Facility argues it seeks discovery to prove an agency relationship between Ms. Seabrook and her family members, apparent agency cannot be based on the representations of the purported agent, only the principal. Cowburn v. Leventis, 366 S.C. 20, 39-40, 619 S.E.2d 437, 448 (Ct. App. 2005). For all these reasons, the court of appeals’ ruling on the Facility’s discovery request is consistent with South Carolina law, and the Facility’s discovery argument does not merit further review.

### **CONCLUSION**

Based on the arguments state above and those in her brief, Respondent respectfully requests the Court deny the petition for writ of certiorari.